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June 29, 2021 

Chief Johnny Jennings 

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department 

601 East Trade Street, 3rd floor 

Charlotte, NC 28202 

 Re: Frankie Jennings Death Investigation 

Dear Chief Jennings: 

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. 7A-61, my office has reviewed the investigation surrounding the 

shooting death of Frankie Jennings on March 23, 2021. The case was investigated by the 

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department (CMPD) under complaint number 2021-0323-1106-

03. The purpose of this review was to examine whether the actions of United States Marshals 

Service Task Force Officer Eric Tillman were unlawful when he shot and killed the decedent 

while attempting to serve the decedent with active warrants at 2235 The Plaza in Charlotte, 

North Carolina.  

The U.S. Marshals’ Carolinas Regional Fugitive Task Force (the “CRFTF”) is a task 

force led by the U.S. Marshals Service and comprised of law enforcement officers from various 

local agencies. The stated purpose of the CRFTF is the apprehension of violent fugitives. 

Members of the CRFTF present when this officer-involved shooting occurred included Senior 

Inspector Eric Tillman of the U.S. Marshals Service, Detective Mark Ruffin of the Mooresville 

Police Department, Officer Matthew Harris of the Gaston County Police Department, Officer 

Jamie Terry of the North Carolina Department of Public Safety, Deputy Tate Mills of the Union 

County Sheriff’s Office, and Detective Stephen Helms of the Monroe Police Department.  

On March 23, 2021, the CRFTF was attempting to serve multiple active warrants on the 

decedent, Frankie Jennings. Those warrants were for charges that included assault with a deadly 

weapon on a law enforcement officer, discharging a firearm within city limits, and two counts of 

possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. The substance of active warrants or pending 

charges against a decedent in a case such as this are often irrelevant and would not typically be 

contained in this report. However, as will be detailed herein, the involved officers reported that 

their knowledge of these warrants, and the facts underlying them, informed officers’ actions in 

this case. Therefore, the officers’ knowledge of the pending warrants and their knowledge of the 
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facts and circumstances underlying those warrants must be discussed for a thorough analysis of 

this incident. 

As is their regular practice, the CRFTF conducted a briefing regarding Mr. Jennings to 

ensure task force officers had the necessary information to locate, identify, and safely serve the 

active warrants on Mr. Jennings. The briefing included informing team members of the warrants 

the team would be serving on the decedent, as well as the allegations underlying the warrants. 

Pursuant to the briefing, participating task force officers were aware that the pending warrant for 

assault with a deadly weapon on a law enforcement officer stemmed from an incident in Carolina 

Beach, North Carolina in which the decedent was alleged to have grabbed an officer’s arm 

before fleeing in a car, resulting in the officer being dragged approximately 30-40 feet before 

being thrown to the ground and causing injury to the officer. With regard to the warrants for 

discharging a firearm within city limits, the CRFTF officers were generally aware that that 

warrant stemmed from an incident in which the decedent was alleged to have fired a weapon into 

a vehicle.  

On March 23, 2021, the CRFTF located a person they believed to be the decedent driving 

a black Mercury Mariner. CRFTF members followed the vehicle and were soon able to confirm 

that Mr. Jennings was the driver of the Mariner. They then observed him switch vehicles and 

begin operating a Mercedes Benz CLK. At approximately 11 a.m., CRFTF officers observed the 

Mercedes, driven by the decedent, and the Mariner, driven by his fiancée, Nayja Johnson, pull 

into and park at a gas station located at 2235 The Plaza.1 The decedent and Ms. Johnson parked 

parallel, on opposite sides of the gas pump, and the decedent exited the Mercedes to pump gas 

into the Mariner. At that point, CRFTF officers, who were wearing tactical gear displaying law 

enforcement identifiers and operating unmarked cars equipped with blue lights, converged into 

the parking lot of the gas station. Upon seeing the officers, the decedent ran back toward the 

Mercedes and entered the driver’s seat. Deputy Tate Mills and Senior Inspector Eric Tillman 

engaged with the decedent in a brief struggle at the driver’s side door of the Mercedes. During 

the struggle, the decedent was able to put the Mercedes in gear and the car began to move 

forward at which point Senior Inspector Tillman fired three rounds from his service weapon at 

the decedent. The decedent was shot three times and pronounced deceased on the scene. A 

loaded Ruger P94 40S&W semi-automatic handgun was located in the center console cupholder 

of the decedent’s Mercedes.  

A. The role of the District Attorney under North Carolina law 

The District Attorney (DA) for the 26th Prosecutorial District is a state official and, as 

such, does not answer to city or county governments within the prosecutorial district. The 

District Attorney is the chief law enforcement official of the 26th Judicial District, the boundaries 

of which are the same as the County of Mecklenburg. The District Attorney has no 

administrative authority or control over the personnel of the United States Marshals Service or 

                                                           
1 It is the practice of this office not to name civilian witnesses who do not identify 

themselves publicly in media interviews or otherwise as it could have a chilling effect on witness 

cooperation in other cases. Nayja Johnson has identified herself publicly in relation to this 

incident in an interview given to WCNC on May 6, 2021. 
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other police agencies within the jurisdiction. That authority and control resides with each city, 

county, or with respect to the United States Marshals Service, the federal government.   

Pursuant to North Carolina statute, one of the District Attorney’s obligations is to advise 

law enforcement agencies within the prosecutorial district. The DA does not arrest people or 

charge people with crimes. When the police charge a person with a crime, the DA decides 

whether or not to prosecute the charged crime. Generally, the DA does not review police 

decisions not to charge an individual with a crime. However, in officer-involved shooting cases, 

the DA reviews the complete investigative file of the investigating agency. The DA then decides 

whether he agrees or disagrees with the charging decision made by the police. If the DA 

concludes that uncharged conduct should be prosecuted, the case will be submitted to a Grand 

Jury. 

If no criminal charges are filed, that does not mean the District Attorney’s Office believes 

the matter was in all respects handled appropriately from an administrative or tactical viewpoint. 

It is simply a determination that there is not a reasonable likelihood of proving criminal charges 

beyond a reasonable doubt unanimously to a jury. This is the limit of the DA’s statutory 

authority in these matters. The fact that a shooting may be controversial does not mean that 

criminal prosecution is warranted. Even if the District Attorney believes a shooting was 

avoidable or an officer did not follow expected procedures or norms, this does not necessarily 

amount to a violation of criminal law. In these circumstances, remedies (if any are appropriate) 

may be pursued by administrative or civil means. The DA has no administrative or civil authority 

in these matters. Those remedies are primarily in the purview of city, county, or federal 

governments, police departments. and private civil attorneys. 

B. Legal standards 

The law recognizes an inherent right to use deadly force to protect oneself or others from 

death or great bodily harm. This core legal principle is referred to as the right to “self-defense.”  

A police officer does not lose the right to self-defense by virtue of becoming a police officer.  

Officers are entitled to the same protections of the law as every other individual. An imminent 

threat to the life of a police officer entitles the officer to respond in such a way as to stop that 

threat. 

 

Under North Carolina law, the burden of proof is on the State to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that a defendant did not act in self-defense. The Supreme Court of North 

Carolina defined the law of self-defense in State v. Norris, 303 N.C. 526 (1981). A killing is 

justified under North Carolina law if it appeared to a person that it was necessary to kill in order 

to save himself or another from death or great bodily harm. The law requires that the belief in the 

necessity to kill must be reasonable under the circumstances.  Id. at 530. 

C. Use of deadly force by a law enforcement officer 

The same legal standards apply to law enforcement officers and private citizens alike.  

However, officers fulfilling their sworn duty to enforce the laws of this State are often placed in 

situations in which they are required to confront rather than avoid potentially dangerous people 

and situations.   
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 The United States Supreme Court stated, “[t]he ‘reasonableness’ of a particular use of 

force must be judged from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather than with 

the 20/20 vision of hindsight.” Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 396 (1989). The Court further 

explained that “[t]he calculus of reasonableness must embody allowance for the fact that police 

officers are often forced to make split-second judgments – in circumstances that are tense, 

uncertain, and rapidly evolving – about the amount of force that is necessary in a particular 

situation.” Id. at 396–97. A situation in which an officer is confronting an armed person with 

uncertain motives is by definition dangerous, and such a circumstance will almost always be 

tense, uncertain and rapidly evolving. In these circumstances, we are not deciding whether the 

officer’s belief in the need to use deadly force was correct but only whether his or her belief in 

the necessity of such force was reasonable. 

 In conducting a legal analysis, this office must take its guidance from the law, and a 

decision must not be based upon public sentiment or outcry. The obligation of a District Attorney 

is clear; he must simply apply the law to the known facts. 

 What the law demands is an evaluation of the reasonableness of the officer’s decision at 

the moment he or she fired the shot. The Supreme Court of the United States has provided 

guidance on what is objectively reasonable and how such an analysis should be conducted. That 

guidance indicates that it is inappropriate to employ “the 20/20 vision of hindsight,” and an 

analysis must make “allowance for the fact that police officers are often forced to make split-

second judgments.” Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. at 396. 

As stated by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, “The [law] does not require police 

officers to wait until a suspect shoots to confirm that a serious threat of harm exists.” The Court 

suggests that when reviewing use of force cases, caution should be used to avoid analysis “more 

reflective of the ‘peace of a judge’s chambers’ than of a dangerous and threatening situation on 

the street.” Elliot v. Leavitt, 99 F.3d. 640, 643 (4th Cir. 1996). 

D.  The officer-involved shooting of Frankie Jennings 

The CRFTF is composed of numerous officers from various jurisdictions. The following 

six CRFTF officers were present at the time of the decedent’s death: Senior Inspector Eric 

Tillman of the U.S. Marshals Service, Detective Mark Ruffin of the Mooresville Police 

Department, Officer Matthew Harris of the Gaston County Police Department, Officer Jamie 

Terry of the North Carolina Department of Public Safety, Deputy Tate Mills of the Union 

County Sheriff’s Office, and Detective Stephen Helms of the Monroe Police Department. 

Senior Inspector Eric Tillman 

A round count conducted on Senior Inspector Eric Tillman’s service weapon at 2235 The 

Plaza showed his weapon contained 17 live 9mm rounds, which included 16 rounds in the 

magazine and one round in the chamber. An analysis of Senior Inspector Tillman’s weapon 

determined it holds 20 rounds when fully loaded, suggesting three rounds had been fired.  

Senior Inspector Tillman was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 26, 

2021. Senior Inspector Tillman stated that he has worked with the United States Marshals 

Service since 2010. He is a Senior Inspector with the Carolinas Regional Fugitive Task Force 



5 
 

and is assigned to the Charlotte Office. Prior to his employment with the U.S. Marshals Service, 

he was employed for three years by the United States Border Patrol.2 He is one of the leaders of 

the CRFTF. The primary function with the CRFTF is the serving of felony warrants.3 Senior 

Inspector Tillman estimated that 98 percent of the warrants the CRFTF serves are on violent 

felons.4 CRFTF officers train together on a regular basis.5 

On March 23, 2021, Senior Inspector Tillman was wearing his green police vest 

containing a U.S. Marshals patch and his equipment. He was operating a blue Chevrolet Tahoe. 

On that day, the CRFTF was attempting to serve warrants on Frankie Jennings. Senior Inspector 

Tillman stated that, to his recollection, one of the warrants the team was attempting to serve on 

the decedent was for assaulting officers in Carolina Beach by dragging them with a vehicle. He 

was also aware the decedent had warrants from Charlotte, including two warrants for possession 

of a firearm by a convicted felon, assault on a female, charges related to an incident in which the 

decedent was alleged to have shot into a vehicle, and other more minor warrants.6 

Based on information obtained during their investigation, the CRFTF had begun looking 

for the decedent in the area they believed him to be when a black Mercury Mariner drove past 

Senior Inspector Tillman. He said he was fairly certain the decedent was driving the Mariner, so 

he and other task force members followed the Mariner through Charlotte. The decedent was 

positively identified as the driver of the Mariner when he stopped at a tire shop and the decedent 

stepped out of the driver’s seat. 7 CRFTF officers then observed the decedent get into a 

Mercedes.8 Senior Inspector Tillman engaged the assistance of the CMPD Real Time Crime 

Center for assistance in tracking the decedent’s vehicle through traffic cameras.9 CRFTF officers 

then observed the Mariner and the Mercedes pull into the gas station at 2235 The Plaza, where 

the decedent exited the Mercedes and began pumping gas.10 

Senior Inspector Tillman stated that when the decedent was out of the car at the gas 

station, the task force had enough officers in the area to conduct the apprehension. Officers 

activated their lights, and Senior Inspector Tillman moved his car into a position to block the rear 

                                                           
2 Tillman Transcript pp. 1-2. 

3 Tillman Transcript p. 3. 

4 Tillman Transcript p. 12. 

5 Tillman Transcript p. 6. 

6 Tillman Transcript pp. 10-11. 

7 Tillman Transcript pp. 13-14 

8 Tillman Transcript p. 17. 

9 Tillman Transcript pp. 16-17. 

10 Tillman Transcript p. 18. 
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driver’s side of the Mercedes. Deputy Tate Mills moved his vehicle to block the rear of the 

Mariner and other officers were moving in front of the vehicles to cut them off.11  

Senior Inspector Tillman stated that as he and other officers were pulling up, the decedent 

immediately sprinted around to the driver’s side of the Mercedes. Senior Inspector Tillman 

recalled that he jumped out of his vehicle and that he and Deputy Mills arrived at the driver’s 

side door of the Mercedes at the same time. When they arrived at the Mercedes, the decedent 

was already in the Mercedes.12 His recollection was that the decedent never got the car door 

shut.13 Senior Inspector Tillman recalled that the Mercedes was still running, and he did not 

believe the decedent ever turned it off.14 Deputy Tate Mills grabbed the decedent with two hands 

and was attempting to pull him out of the vehicle. Senior Inspector Tillman recalled that he had 

one hand on the decedent for a moment, but the decedent had put the car into gear.15 

Senior Inspector Tillman described the next events as happening almost simultaneously. 

He could see the decedent’s car moving forward, and he believed Deputy Mills fell to the ground 

on his right side. He could see the Mercedes was going to make contact with CRFTF officers 

who were pulling in front of the Mercedes to his left. He saw the decedent’s hands reaching 

toward a gun in the center console cupholder, and he fired his service weapon at the decedent. 

He recalled firing his weapon three times.16 The shots were very rapid.17  

Senior Inspector Tillman recalled the gun in the Mercedes being positioned in the 

cupholder “like a holster,” muzzle down, with the grip sticking up.18 He described it as a Ruger 

semi-automatic handgun, possibly black or silver.19 He later stated that he believed the officer 

next to him was Deputy Tate Mills, but he never turned to look at the officer because he was 

looking at the decedent; however, he knew Deputy Mills was approaching at the same time as he 

was.20 He recalled the person he believed to be Deputy Mills having two hands on the decedent 

because Senior Inspector Tillman could see them. When the car started moving forward, he saw 

the hands disappearing and not holding onto the decedent anymore. It appeared to him as if 

                                                           
11 Tillman Transcript pp.19-20. 

12 Tillman Transcript p. 20. 

13 Tillman Transcript p. 29. 

14 Tillman Transcript p. 20. 

15 Tillman Transcript p. 20. 

16 Tillman Transcript pp. 21, 26. 

17 Tillman Transcript p.22. 

18 Tillman Transcript, pp. 30-31, 40, 

19 Tillman Transcript pp. 22-23. 

20 Tillman Transcript p. 28. 
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Deputy Mills was falling down, but he did not turn to look at him because he was still moving 

with the decedent.21  

Senior Inspector Tillman did not specifically recall announcing anything himself 

although he recalled numerous people saying things such as “put your hands up” or “show us 

your hands.”22 He recalled that he would have had the best view of the gun. He initially stated he 

believed he might have announced “gun,” but later stated that he knows he announced “gun” at 

some point but did not remember exactly when.23 

Senior Inspector Tillman recalled that after the shots, the decedent stopped reaching, and 

the car stopped. CRFTF officers pulled Mr. Jennings from the car to complete the arrest and 

begin rendering medical aid. Officers identified a gunshot wound to the decedent’s left armpit 

and put a tourniquet on his arm. They also placed a chest seal on his chest to cover the wound 

and performed chest compressions until MEDIC arrived.24 

Senior Inspector Tillman stated that he turned his weapon over to Alden Elliott, the 

Senior Task Force Officer, when he arrived at the scene.25 He recounted having MEDIC check 

his vitals because that is protocol.26 He then left with Officer Jamie Terry and went to the U.S. 

Marshals Office in uptown Charlotte.27 

Senior Inspector Tillman stated that, from the time officers pulled into the gas station, 

there was never a point at which he perceived the decedent was going to comply with the arrest. 

The decedent ran straight to the Mercedes and tried to “blast through [their] containment,” he 

said.28 He stated he fired his weapon because he feared for the life of the officers the Mercedes 

was heading toward, potentially for the life of Deputy Mills, who he believed was on the ground 

next to the car, and for his own life and the lives of the people to his left because of the gun 

Senior Inspector Tillman stated the decedent had been reaching toward.29 

 

                                                           
21 Tillman Transcript pp. 29-30. 

22 Tillman Transcript p. 28. 

23 Tillman Transcript pp. 31, 38-39. 

24 Tillman Transcript p. 23. 

25 Tillman Transcript. p. 25.  

26 Tillman Transcript. p. 25. 

27 Tillman Transcript p. 26. 

28 Tillman Transcript. p. 44.  

29 Tillman Transcript. p.34.  
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Detective Mark Ruffin, Mooresville Police Department 

Detective Ruffin was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 23, 2021. 

Detective Ruffin stated that he is a detective with Mooresville Police Department, where he has 

been employed for approximately four years. He has been a member of the CRFTF since 

October 2020.  

On March 23, 2021, Detective Ruffin was operating a silver Ford Fusion. Like the other 

task force officers participating in the apprehension, he was aware of the allegations related to 

the warrants the team was attempting to serve on the decedent. He was participating in the 

surveillance and identified the decedent when he got out of the Mariner and into the Mercedes. 

Detective Ruffin noted that the decedent was wearing a black bookbag across his chest as he 

switched cars.  

Detective Ruffin advised that he pulled up to the right of Senior Inspector Tillman’s 

Tahoe as Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills were struggling to get the decedent out of 

the Mercedes. As Deputy Mills was opening his car door, he heard someone say “gun” and then 

heard two to three gunshots. He did not know who said “gun,” but he did indicate Senior 

Inspector Tillman was the person who fired. He recalled the Mercedes moved forward and hit 

Officer Matthew Harris’ vehicle, but he was not sure whether the car moved forward before or 

after the gunshots.  

Detective Ruffin recounted that after the gunshots, the decedent’s girlfriend began 

yelling, so he and Deputy Mills detained her.  

Officer Matthew Harris, Gaston County Police Department 

Officer Matthew Harris was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 23, 

2021. He is currently a K9 officer with the Gaston County Police Department and has been 

employed there since 2007. 

On March 23, 2021, he was operating a silver Chevrolet Tahoe. Officer Jamie Terry was 

his passenger. He too was aware of the allegations in the warrants the team was attempting to 

serve on the decedent. He stated that the task force was aware that the decedent had a history of 

fleeing in vehicles, so the task force was attempting to apprehend the decedent outside of his car. 

Officer Harris recalled that other task force officers were following the decedent, and he was 

attempting to catch up to them. As he and Officer Terry approached the gas station, he could see 

the decedent pumping gas. He recalled Deputy Mills and Detective Helms pulling in front of him 

as Officer Harris was going into the parking lot. He recounted that Senior Inspector Tillman went 

to the driver’s side of the Mercedes. He said the decedent saw the activated lights on Deputy 

Mills’ truck and started to run. He recalled Deputy Mills’ police lights being on before Deputy 

Mills entered the gas station parking lot. He stated that both Detective Helms and Senior 

Inspector Tillman also have lights on their cars.  

As Officer Harris was pulling into the parking lot, the decedent was running back to the 

Mercedes. Officer Harris briefly lost sight of the decedent as Officer Harris drove around Senior 

Inspector Tillman’s Tahoe and, at that point, he believed the decedent was going to flee on foot. 
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When Officer Harris next saw the decedent, he was already in the driver’s seat of the Mercedes. 

He recalled the decedent as being “laid over the center console towards the passenger door.”  

Officer Harris stated that he tried to cut the decedent off by going around Senior 

Inspector Tillman’s blue SUV to block the decedent. Officer Harris stated that he put his vehicle 

in park, and the decedent rammed his vehicle, and he heard two or three gunshots as his vehicle 

was struck. Officer Harris did not see who was shooting. Officer Harris got out of his car and 

saw the decedent in the driver’s seat of the Mercedes and Senior Inspector Tillman with his gun 

drawn. Officer Harris recalled that Deputy Mills was in the area, but he did not see Deputy Mills 

until he got out of his car and had run around the back of his Tahoe. 

Officer Harris recounted that he approached Senior Inspector Tillman, who told him to 

get the decedent out of the Mercedes. Officer Harris assisted in administering first aid. 

Officer Harris stated that he saw the handle of a pistol in a cupholder in the center 

console between the seats of the Mercedes. He believed the firearm was silver based on his quick 

glance. He also believed it was a semi-automatic based on the shape of the handle. 

Officer Jamie Terry, North Carolina Department of Public Safety 

Officer Jamie Terry was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 23, 2021. 

She has been employed by the North Carolina Department of Public Safety since 2004. She was 

the “lead agent” or “case agent” on this apprehension. She was familiar with the allegations in 

the warrants the team was attempting to serve on the decedent in that she knew it was alleged 

that Carolina Beach officers had made contact with the decedent which resulted in a scuffle and 

one of the officers being dragged by the decedent’s vehicle prior to the defendant fleeing and 

eluding police. She was further aware that the warrants for discharging a firearm within the city 

limits alleged that the decedent fired gunshots into a vehicle. She said the team had been briefed 

more than once on the warrants they were attempting to serve on the decedent. 

As to this incident, she stated that she was a passenger in the Chevrolet Tahoe driven by 

Officer Harris. She recalled that once the decedent saw officers, he dropped the gas pump that 

was in his hand, ran, got back into the Mercedes, and the Mercedes started moving. Senior 

Inspector Tillman parked at the driver’s side of the Mercedes. Detective Helms cut off the 

Mariner. Detective Ruffin parked behind Senior Inspector Tillman. She could not recall exactly 

where Deputy Mills parked. She and Officer Harris parked in front of the Mercedes to block it 

in, and the decedent wrecked into them. She recalled that the front of the Mercedes hit the front 

passenger side of Officer Harris’ Tahoe near the front wheel. 

She heard gunshots being fired next to her. She recalled that she did not get out of the car 

until after the collision, and she also remembered the Tahoe being hit before she heard the 

gunshots. She could not remember whether she was in the car or out of the car when the shots 

were fired. She believed she was shoulder-to-shoulder with Senior Inspector Tillman when the 

shots were fired and believed it was Senior Inspector Tillman who fired, but she could not 

remember whether she saw it, heard it, or both. She did not fire her weapon, nor did she observe 

any officer other than Senior Inspector Tillman fire a weapon.  
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She remembered the driver’s side door of the Mercedes was open because Deputy Mills 

had a hand on the decedent. She stated that at least one of Deputy Mills’s hands was on the 

decedent as the car was in motion, and she believed Deputy Mills also had a hand inside the 

vehicle. She could not recall whether Deputy Mills also had his firearm out. She recalled that 

Senior Inspector Tillman had his gun pointed. She recalled Deputy Mills being more toward the 

rear of the Mercedes and Senior Inspector Tillman being more toward the center of the vehicle. 

She said the team gave verbal commands as they were approaching the decedent. 

Her view of the decedent was obstructed because his car door was open, and she did not 

see the decedent with a weapon. Officer Terry recalled hearing someone yell, “gun,” but she did 

not recall whether it was before or after the shooting. She later stated that she definitely heard 

Senior Inspector Tillman call out that there was a gun, but she could not remember exactly what 

he said.  

After the shooting, she assisted in getting the decedent out of the Mercedes and saw a gun 

in the Mercedes. She believed the gun was in the cupholder and positioned pointing downward. 

Her recollection was that the gun was black and that it was within reach of the decedent prior to 

him being removed from the vehicle. She recalled asking Senior Inspector Tillman, “Are you 

good?” She also recalled telling him that “it was good,” meaning the shooting was not unlawful 

because she believed that the decedent could have killed her. 

She recounted calling 9-1-1, being placed on hold, and then seeing a CMPD officer and 

asking that officer to call for MEDIC. She said there was a child in the Mariner, so she placed 

the child in a law enforcement vehicle. After the shooting, she took Senior Inspector Tillman to 

the U.S. Marshals Office. 

Deputy Tate Mills, Union County Sheriff’s Office 

Deputy Tate Mills was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 23, 2021. 

He is currently employed as a Deputy with the Union County Sheriff’s Office. A round count 

conducted on his service weapon showed it to be fully loaded.  

Deputy Mills stated that on March 23, 2021, he was operating a black Ford F150 truck. 

He knew the allegations in the warrants the team was attempting to serve on the decedent and, 

based on those warrants, he believed the decedent was likely armed. 

Deputy Mills stated that the decedent’s car turned into a gas station, and Deputy Mills 

passed the gas station and turned around. He observed the decedent get out of the Mercedes and 

walk to a black SUV and noted the decedent was about to pump gas.  

Deputy Mills stated that his vehicle does not have any identifying markings but that it is 

equipped with police lights, which he turned on when he pulled into the parking lot and put the 

truck in park. He described his tactical gear as containing a Sheriff’s Office identifier on the 

front and a U.S. Marshals Service identifier on the back. He recalled getting out of his truck and 

giving commands to the decedent to “stop” and “show me your hands.” He stated that other 

officers were also giving verbal commands, but he was not sure which officers. He recalled that 

the decedent looked at him, paused, went around the pump and the back of the Mercedes, and 

tried to get into the Mercedes. Deputy Mills described the decedent’s speed as a “brisk 

movement” that was neither a walk, nor quite a run. Deputy Mills believed the decedent knew he 
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was a law enforcement officer based on his clothing and the lights on his vehicle. Deputy Mills 

said his weapon was drawn when he exited his truck. He holstered the gun and tried to go “hands 

on” with the decedent to get him out of the car.  

Deputy Mills stated that the decedent made it to the driver’s door of the Mercedes and 

was trying to get into the car. Deputy Mills said the decedent was able to get the car into drive, 

and the vehicle started to move. At that point, Deputy Mills let go. He stated that he moved to get 

away from the Mercedes because the warrants they were trying to serve on the decedent were for 

dragging an officer, and he did not want to be the second officer dragged. He recalled that he 

moved and got away from the vehicle, and he heard shots fired. At this point, he was unsure of 

who had fired their weapon. He said the decedent’s Mercedes ran into one of his team member’s 

vehicles that was parked in front of the Mercedes. His recollection was that the Mercedes moved 

5-10 feet before colliding with the vehicle. Deputy Mills did not recall hearing anyone say 

anything about a gun until after the decedent was outside of the car.  

Deputy Mills stated that after the shots were fired, the decedent’s girlfriend came to the 

back of the Mercedes, and he immediately secured her in handcuffs and passed her to another 

officer. He then went to his truck, got his gloves and a medical bag, and joined other officers in 

rendering aid. He did not search the decedent or the Mercedes. 

Detective Stephen Helms, Monroe Police Department 

Detective Stephen Helms was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on March 23, 

2021. He has been employed with the Monroe Police Department since 2007. 

Detective Helms stated that he was aware of the allegations in the warrants the team was 

attempting to serve on the decedent and that the team had previously been briefed on the 

decedent.  

On March 23, 2021, Detective Helms was driving a gray Ford F150 truck. Detective 

Helms stated that he was coming from Monroe when he learned over the radio that the decedent 

had been seen. Other team members were following the decedent, and he was listening in over 

the radio. As Detective Helms was arriving in the area, he heard that the decedent had pulled into 

a gas station. While driving on The Plaza, he passed by the decedent, who was at the gas pumps. 

Detective Helms made a U-turn and pulled off to the side of the road. Once the team had enough 

units in place for the apprehension, he turned into the gas station parking lot. Detective Helms 

stated that he drove around the Mariner as Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills were 

making their approach. While driving around the Mariner, he lost sight of what was happening. 

Once he got around the Mariner, he saw Senior Inspector Tillman’s vehicle and saw Officer 

Harris’ Tahoe pulling around in front of the Mercedes. Detective Helms recalled that the driver’s 

door to the Mercedes was open, and he could tell there was some sort of interaction occurring at 

the driver’s door of the Mercedes. He could see the decedent in the driver’s seat of the Mercedes.  

Detective Helms stated that he pulled around the Mariner, opened his door, and saw the 

Mercedes make contact with the right front of the silver Tahoe and then stop. The decedent was 

still in the Mercedes, and Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills were trying to make the 

apprehension when the Mercedes struck the silver Tahoe. When the Mercedes struck the Tahoe, 

the door to the Mercedes was still open. 
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Detective Helms did not recall whether he opened his car door right before or 

immediately after the Mercedes hit the Tahoe. He could not recall whether Officer Harris had yet 

exited his Tahoe when it was struck. Detective Helms said he heard shouting in the area of the 

Mercedes and could tell there was a physical interaction. He stated that he saw Senior Inspector 

Tillman fire his weapon into the driver’s area of the Mercedes. He later stated that he “thought” 

he saw Senior Inspector Tillman fire. He could not recall whether the shots were fired before or 

after the Mercedes moved, but his best recollection was that the Mercedes hit the Tahoe, and 

then Senior Inspector Tillman fired. He recalled Senior Inspector Tillman firing twice and did 

not recall seeing anyone else fire. He said Deputy Mills was the only other person in the area 

with Senior Inspector Tillman when the shots were fired. Detective Helms stated that he did not 

fire his own weapon.  

Detective Helms said he ran around the passenger side of the Mariner and Senior 

Inspector Tillman’s Tahoe before joining other officers where they were with the decedent. He 

recalled that, as he was passing by the passenger side of the Mariner, he saw a child trying to get 

out of the Mariner. He said he kept the child there, and then called Detective Ruffin over to hold 

the child. Detective Helms stated that once the decedent was out of the Mercedes, he assisted in 

rendering medical attention. 

Nayja Johnson 

Nayja Johnson was interviewed at the Law Enforcement Center on April 22, 2021. Prior 

to this date, detectives sought to interview Ms. Johnson in person multiple times. In response to 

one attempt to schedule an interview, Ms. Johnson stated in a text message to the investigating 

detective that the decedent was “murdered with his hands up.” “He never put up a fight nor 

threat,” she wrote. 

During the April 22, 2021, interview, Ms. Johnson stated that she was the decedent’s 

fiancée. She recalled that when this occurred, she was driving the SUV and the decedent was 

driving the Mercedes. She recounted that the decedent pumped gas into her SUV, gave her the 

credit card back, gave her a kiss, then turned around and got back in his car. Ms. Johnson stated 

unequivocally that the decedent was back in the Mercedes when officers approached. She stated 

that once he was back in the Mercedes, unmarked cars surrounded him. She stated the decedent 

had his left hand up with his right on the steering wheel when shots were fired. She heard agents 

giving commands such as “don’t move” and “don’t let him drive off.” 

Ms. Johnson said the officers were in unmarked vehicles but that she knew they were law 

enforcement officers by the way they were dressed. Ms. Johnson stated that she ran to be by the 

decedent’s side, and police pushed her to the ground, handcuffed her, and put her in a police car 

for 30 minutes. 

Ms. Johnson recounted that the decedent knew he was wanted and that he had been 

running from law enforcement for approximately a month. Ms. Johnson was familiar with the 

warrants officers were trying to serve on the decedent, but she stated that the decedent did not 

own any firearms and that she had never seen him with a firearm. Ms. Johnson stated that they 

had bought the Mercedes the day before and dropped it off at the shop the morning of the 

shooting. She stated that when she and the decedent picked up the car, it was “clean.” She said 
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that the decedent was only in possession of a bag.30 When asked about the gun found in the 

Mercedes, Ms. Johnson stated that she has six brothers, and the gun could have belonged to any 

one of them.31 

Although the surveillance video from 2235 The Plaza will be discussed in more detail 

below, several of Ms. Johnson’s assertions are directly contradicted by the video evidence. The 

video captured Ms. Johnson rolling down her window to give the decedent what appears to be a 

credit or debit card and then immediately rolling her window back up. The decedent then places 

the nozzle into the gas tank and engages the hands-free pump mechanism. He then begins to 

smoke a cigarette. Ms. Johnson rolls the window down and immediately back up with the 

decedent returning the card while the window is in motion.  Her window is up during the rest of 

the encounter. The decedent then finishes pumping gas. As officers pull into the parking lot, the 

decedent is in the process of placing the nozzle back onto the pump, rather than being back in the 

Mercedes as stated by Ms. Johnson. After the shooting, the video shows Ms. Johnson exit the 

Mariner and move toward Deputy Mills, who places her in handcuffs. She is not pushed to the 

ground in any way. Deputy Mills then walks Ms. Johnson to the other set of pumps and begins 

calling for another officer to watch Ms. Johnson. Ms. Johnson appears to be in some medical 

distress, and Deputy Mills appears to assist her as she begins to sit down at the gas pump. 

Civilian witness A.C. 

 Civilian witness A.C. was interviewed by detectives at the Law Enforcement Center on 

March 23, 2021. A.C. stated that he was sitting in his work vehicle in the gas station parking lot 

approximately 50-60 feet from the gas pumps. He recounted that he was taking notes in his truck 

and looked up to see vehicles speeding into the parking lot with their blue lights flashing. A.C. 

observed officers exit their cars with their guns pointed. A.C.’s recollection was that officers ran 

over to the Mercedes. He believed that the decedent opened the car door like he was going to 

step out, and one of the officers kicked the door shut. He recalled the officer closest to the front 

of the car reaching into the car with his left hand while holding his gun in his right hand. He said 

he heard yelling, but his windows were up, so he could not hear anything specific. He could not 

see what was going on in the car. He stated that the car started to roll forward like it was in idle, 

and then he heard three shots. A.C.’s recollection was that the silver SUV pulled in front of the 

Mercedes to stop it from rolling. 

 

                                                           
30 As will be discussed below, this bag was located in the Mercedes. Inside the bag was 

an additional magazine for the Ruger P94 40S&W semi-automatic handgun that was located in 

the center cupholder. 

31 Although Ms. Johnson stated she does not know the decedent to carry firearms and that 

the gun could have belonged to one of her brothers, she said she and the decedent dropped the 

car off at the shop that morning and picked it up shortly before this incident. For this to be true, 

Ms. Johnson and the decedent would have to have left the car at a shop with an unattended gun 

in the center cupholder. Notably, as will be discussed herein, the decedent’s DNA was found on 

the trigger, trigger guard, and grip of the weapon.  
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Civilian witness R.D. 

Civilian witness R.D. gave a written statement to officers on the scene. He told officers 

that he had been in the store and was about to leave. He heard yelling at the Mercedes and looked 

up. He saw officers approach the door of the Mercedes. He recalled that the Mercedes started to 

move, and he heard several shots. 

E. Video evidence  

CRFTF officers were not wearing body cameras, and their vehicles were not equipped 

with recording devices on March 23, 2021. The gas station at 2235 The Plaza is equipped with 

surveillance cameras, which captured the events of that morning.32  

The video captured the Mercedes arrive and park on the opposite side of the pump from 

the Mariner. The decedent exited the Mercedes, obtained what appears to be a credit or debit 

card from Ms. Johnson and then began to pump gas. The decedent returned the card to Ms. 

Johnson and was returning the nozzle to the gas pump as Deputy Mills and Senior Inspector 

Tillman arrived almost simultaneously. Deputy Mills parked behind the Mariner. Senior 

Inspector Tillman parked facing the driver’s side door of the Mercedes. Police lights are visible 

in both vehicles. The decedent appeared to observe both vehicles before they were able to come 

to a complete stop. The decedent began jogging back to the Mercedes while putting his hands up 

for a fraction of a second. The decedent then dropped both hands and moved very quickly toward 

the Mercedes, opened the driver’s door, got in, and closed the door.  

A frame-by-frame analysis of the video appears to show the decedent reaching toward the 

center of the vehicle with his right hand while his left hand remained up until Deputy Mills 

began to struggle with the decedent. [1] [2] [3]. Upon entering the Mercedes, the decedent 

appears to look toward the center of the vehicle, then alternated between looking at officers and 

back toward the center of the vehicle. Senior Inspector Tillman, who was positioned closer to the 

front of the car than Deputy Mills, placed his foot on the front of the driver’s door while Deputy 

Mills opened it using the door handle. The two officers struggled with the decedent as Officer 

Harris’ Tahoe passed between them and the camera, blocking much of what was occurring at the 

driver’s door of the Mercedes with the exception of the roof of the Mercedes and the heads of 

Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills. As Officer Harris’ Tahoe moved in front of the 

Mercedes, and while the two officers were struggling with the decedent, the Mercedes began to 

move forward. Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills moved forward with the Mercedes 

several steps. The Mercedes then struck the Tahoe containing Officers Harris and Terry. Just 

after the impact, what appears to be a shell casing from Senior Inspector Tillman’s weapon can 

be seen in the air [1] [2] [3] [4]. Det. Ruffin arrived on the scene in his Ford Fusion as Deputy 

Mills holstered his service weapon and stopped Ms. Johnson from approaching the Mercedes 

while Senior Inspector Tillman appeared to be attempting to remove the decedent from the 

                                                           
32 The relevant portion of this surveillance video will be published in conjunction with 

this report. Out of respect for the decedent and his family, the portion of the video that displays 

the decedent’s body after he is removed from the Mercedes will not be published. The timestamp 

on the surveillance video is slightly inaccurate. 

https://charmeckda.com/ois032321/
https://charmeckda.com/ois032321/
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Mercedes. Officers Harris and Tate then assisted Senior Inspector Tillman with removing the 

decedent from the Mercedes.  

F. Forensic evidence 

Firearms and DNA analysis 

A loaded Ruger P94 40S&W semi-automatic handgun was located in the center console 

cupholder of the decedent’s Mercedes. The gun was positioned in the cupholder with the muzzle 

down and the handle up. The magazine was loaded with live ammunition, and there was a live 

round in the chamber of the weapon. A black bag was also located inside the Mercedes that 

contained an additional loaded magazine for the firearm. 

Lab analysis concluded that the decedent’s DNA was on the trigger, grip, and trigger 

guard of the Ruger P94 40S&W. 

Senior Inspector Tillman’s service weapon was a Glock 17 9mm semi-automatic 

handgun. A round count of the weapon showed it to be missing three rounds. Three discharged 

9mm Hornady shell casings were located on the driver’s side of the Mercedes. Lab analysis of 

the discharged cartridge casings concluded that all three were fired from Senior Inspector 

Tillman’s service weapon.  

The Medical Examiner recovered three projectiles from the decedent. Lab analysis 

concluded that all three projectiles were fired from Senior Inspector Tillman’s service weapon. 

Autopsy report 

The Report of Autopsy Examination issued by the Mecklenburg County Medical 

Examiner’s Office found the decedent suffered a gunshot wound of the left upper arm. A 

projectile was recovered from this wound. There was an additional gunshot wound to the back of 

the left upper arm that entered into the chest under the decedent’s left armpit. A projectile was 

recovered from this wound. There was also a through-and-through gunshot wound of the left 

forearm, and a wound to the right forearm. A projectile was recovered from the wound to the 

right forearm. The cause of death was determined to be a gunshot wound of the chest.  

The evidence suggests the decedent was shot three times with the projectile that entered 

his left forearm exiting his left forearm and re-entering at his right forearm. 

A copy of the Medical Examiner’s Report of Autopsy Examination is attached to this 

report as Exhibit 1. 

G. Conclusion  

It is clear that Senior Inspector Tillman fired his weapon three times during the 

confrontation with the decedent. It is similarly clear that no other member of the task force fired 

their weapon. Therefore, the central issue in this review is whether or not the State could meet 

the burden of proving to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that Senior Inspector Tillman did not 

act in self-defense or defense of others. This would mean proving to a jury of 12 citizens beyond 

a reasonable doubt that (1) Senior Inspector Tillman did not believe it was necessary to kill the 



16 
 

decedent in order to save himself or another from death or great bodily harm or (2) that Senior 

Inspector Tillman’s belief that it was necessary to kill the decedent was not reasonable under the 

circumstances.  

Senior Inspector Tillman was aware that the decedent was alleged to have carried 

firearms on at least two recent occasions. He was also aware that the decedent was alleged to 

have previously shot into a vehicle. Senior Inspector Tillman was further aware that one of the 

warrants the team was attempting to serve on the decedent alleged that the decedent dragged a 

law enforcement officer alongside a vehicle after officers made contact with him. At any trial of 

this matter, Senior Inspector Tillman’s subjective belief that the decedent posed an imminent 

threat to his life or the life of others would be an issue for the jury. The knowledge Senior 

Inspector Tillman possessed with regard to the allegations of the defendant informed his 

subjective beliefs and would be admissible evidence for the jury to consider. 

The evidence establishes that although officers were driving unmarked cars, they were 

easily identifiable as law enforcement officers based on the emergency lighting in their vehicles, 

their clothing, and their verbal commands. 

The surveillance video shows the decedent noticed law enforcement vehicles pulling into 

the gas station as he was returning the nozzle on the gas pump. The camera captured the 

decedent then moving quickly toward the Mercedes while putting both hands up for a fraction of 

a second before bringing them back down and making a dash for the Mercedes. The video shows 

the decedent enter the Mercedes and shut the door while officers approached and then began to 

struggle to get the decedent out of the car. The video shows the Mercedes moving forward while 

Deputy Mills and Senior Inspector Tillman were still struggling with the decedent at the driver’s 

door. The Mercedes then struck Officer Harris’ Tahoe occupied by Officers Harris and Terry as 

the Tahoe was pulling in front of the Mercedes to block it. The evidence suggests it was at this 

point that Senior Inspector Tillman fired his weapon. The video establishes that these events 

transpired extremely quickly with only approximately 13 seconds elapsing between the time the 

decedent first notices the officers and Officer Tillman fires his weapon. 

The evidence establishes that the decedent possessed a Ruger P94 40S&W semi-

automatic handgun positioned handle-up in the center cupholder of the Mercedes that was within 

his reach as he struggled with officers. Senior Inspector Tillman described the decedent as 

reaching toward the center of the car during the struggle, and the video evidence tends to support 

his statement. The video evidence further corroborates that the decedent’s vehicle began to move 

while Senior Inspector Tillman and Deputy Mills were struggling with the decedent. 

Senior Inspector Tillman stated he fired his weapon because he was in fear for his own 

life and the lives of the other officers because the decedent was reaching for a gun. Senior 

Inspector Tillman also believed the movement of the Mercedes presented an imminent threat to 

officers.  

A police officer – or any other person – is justified in using deadly force if he in fact 

believed that he or another person was in imminent danger of great bodily harm or death from 

the actions of the person who was shot and if his belief was reasonable. The statements of the 

Senior Inspector Tillman and the other task force officers who were present, the physical 
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evidence, and surveillance videos corroborate the account of the events given by Senior 

Inspector Tillman.   

Given the corroborated evidence that Senior Inspector Tillman was reasonable in his 

belief that he and other officers faced an imminent threat of great bodily harm or death, the 

evidence in this case would be insufficient to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Senior Inspector Tillman did not act in defense of himself or another. Consequently, I will not be 

seeking charges related to the death of Frankie Jennings. 

 If you have any questions, please contact me directly.   

     Sincerely, 

       

      Spencer B. Merriweather III    

      District Attorney 

 

CC: Senior Inspector Mark Carney, United States Marshals Service, Office of Professional 

Responsibility, Force Review Branch
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Exhibits 

 

The Ruger P94 40S&W semi-automatic handgun located in the                BACK 

cupholder of the decedent’s Mercedes. 

 

Senior Inspector Tillman’s vest and gear as captured on body-worn camera of a  BACK  

CMPD officer who arrived at the scene after the incident.    
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Officers approach as the decedent appears to reach toward the center of the vehicle. BACK 

 
 

            BACK 
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            BACK 

 

The shell casing traveling from right to left.       BACK 
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            BACK 

 

            BACK 
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            BACK 
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